THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000095
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2016-CP-18-1849

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

IN RE: TRUST EIP CREATED UNDER THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OF
EUNICE I. PAGE DATED OCTOBER 14, 1992,

RICHARD S. HENSON AND VANN KENNETH HENSON,
Petitioners,

v.

ALBERT T. HENSON, JR. AND JULIAN REID HENSON,
Respondents.

Of whom

ALBERT T. HENSON, JR. is the Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Daniel F. Blanchard, III (SC Bar 65342)
ROSEN, ROSEN & HAGOOD, LLC
151 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Post Office Box 893

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err as a matter of law by holding that the Probate Court's order appointing a special fiduciary as interim trustee for a trust pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704(e) is not immediately appealable when the order is a final order affecting a substantial right made in a special proceeding under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3)?

- II. Did the Circuit Court err as a matter of law by holding that the Probate Court's order appointing a special fiduciary as interim trustee for a trust pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704(e) is not immediately appealable when the order grants, continues, or refuses an injunction under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(4)?

INTRODUCTION

This case involves the issue of whether a party may immediately appeal from an order of the Probate Court appointing a Special Fiduciary as Interim Trustee for a Trust pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704(e) or whether the party must await the Probate Court's resolution of other petitions involving the Trust before an appeal can be pursued. After Appellant Albert T. Henson, Jr. (hereinafter "Appellant") timely filed an appeal from the Probate Court's order to the Circuit Court in accordance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308, upon the motion of Respondents Richard S. Henson and Vann K. Henson (hereinafter "Respondents"), the Circuit Court dismissed Appellant's appeal based on its conclusion that the Probate Court's order grants "only temporary relief" and "is not a final order subject to appeal" because it did not resolve all the petitions pending before the Probate Court. However, Appellant's appeal involves (a) a final order affecting a substantial right made in a special proceeding under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3) and/or (b) an order that grants, continues, or refuses an injunction under § 14-3-330(4). As such, the order is immediately appealable. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by dismissing Appellant's appeal.

As discussed below, South Carolina is among the considerable number of jurisdictions that have adopted Section 3-107 of the Uniform Probate Code (UPC). Under this section, unless supervised administration of an estate is involved, which is inapplicable here, "each proceeding before the [Probate Court] is independent of any other proceeding involving the same estate." S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-107. Thus far our state appellate courts have not yet addressed the significance of this particular section on the appealability of Probate Court orders rendered in our state. However, the South Carolina Probate Code mandates that our courts must liberally construe and apply this provision to effectuate its underlying purpose to make uniform the law of those states which have

enacted it. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-102. As a result, decisions from other states that have adopted this provision of the uniform act are especially persuasive.

Decisions from other jurisdictions that have adopted the uniform act make clear that each petition in a probate file ordinarily is considered as initiating an independent proceeding, so that an order disposing of the matters raised in the petition is considered a final, appealable order even though it does not resolve the entire estate. The administration of a decedent's estate can involve several special proceedings, and the final orders entered in each such proceeding are independently appealable. In other words, multiple judgments final for purposes of appeal can be rendered on discrete issues in a single probate matter. Because each proceeding before the Probate Court is independent, there needs to be finality, for purposes of appealability, only for the proceeding being appealed. In order to authorize an appeal in a probate matter, it is not necessary that the order on appeal be one which fully and finally disposes of the entire probate proceeding. All that is required for a probate order to be appealable is that the order must finally dispose or be conclusive of the issue or controverted question for which the particular part of the proceeding was brought. In the present case, because the Probate Court has entered a final order in a special proceeding affecting a substantial right and has concluded or disposed of the particular issue raised in the Respondents' motion or petition, the Probate Court's order is appealable under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3).

Additionally, the Probate Court's order in this case has the effect of granting or refusing an injunction. Orders granting or refusing an injunction are immediately appealable under state law. Although not styled as seeking an injunction, the substance of Respondents' motion in the Probate Court sought a mandatory injunction against Appellant. The motion requested the Probate Court to alter the *status quo* by appointing a special fiduciary and to require Appellant to immediately turn

over and relinquish possession, use, control, and ownership of certain property to the special fiduciary, even though ownership of the property is in dispute. Although the Probate Court's order did not grant all of the relief requested by Respondents, the order nevertheless alters the parties' legal relationship. The order appoints a special fiduciary with powers over the Trust for an indefinite period of time. The order expressly permits the special fiduciary to negotiate an extension of a loan and mortgage involving the real property in controversy and to take "other appropriate action . . . in her sole discretion," including placing a mortgage on the subject property. The practical effect of the Probate Court's order is to grant injunctive relief because it effectively restrains Appellant from exercising complete and full ownership over his property. The order also mandates that Appellant must turn over records to the special fiduciary regarding his ownership of the property and any leases of the property. The order also necessarily denied or refused Appellant's request to be appointed as the special fiduciary for the Trust, which relief he requested in the alternative should such an appointment be deemed necessary. In short, because the Probate Court's order has the effect of granting or refusing an injunction, it is appealable under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(4).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation arises from a dispute among three brothers over the ownership of valuable commercial property located at 605 North Main Street, Summerville, South Carolina. Appellant and Respondents are brothers and are the grandchildren of Eunice I. Page, who died on October 6, 1993. See A. Henson Aff. ¶¶ 2-3. Appellant asserts that he is the owner of the 605 North Main property based on an agreement that he entered into with Mrs. Page in 1988. Id. ¶¶ 4-9 & Exh. A; J. Wright Aff. ¶¶ 3-6; Burbage Aff. ¶¶ 4-5; Agnew Aff. ¶ 2; K. Wright Aff. ¶ 3. Pursuant to that agreement, Appellant has been in exclusive possession of the property since 1988; has continuously possessed

and used the property since 1988; has paid the taxes, insurance, and expenses for the property since 1988; has kept his personal property, equipment, and tools on the property since 1988; has made permanent improvements to the property; has leased portions of the property to tenants for many years; and earns his livelihood from the business that he conducts on the property. See A. Henson Aff. ¶¶ 10-13, 19; J. Wright Aff. ¶ 3; K. Wright Aff. ¶ 3. The property is Appellant's sole source of income. See A. Henson Aff. ¶ 11.

On January 26, 2015, Appellant's brothers (the Respondents) filed a petition in the Probate Court entitled "Petition to Appoint a Successor Trustee," in which they seek to divest Appellant of ownership of the 605 North Main property. See Petition filed 1.26.15. Respondents allege in their petition that the property is owned by a Trust EIP created under the Last Will and Testament of Eunice I. Page dated October 14, 1992 ("the EIP Trust"). Id. The EIP Trust named Ann P. Pittillo as Trustee. Mrs. Pittillo is the mother of Appellant and Respondents and is Mrs. Page's daughter. Mrs. Pittillo died on April 20, 2014. Respondents allege that they along with Appellant and Julian R. Henson (Respondent Richard Henson's daughter) are the "sole remaining qualified beneficiaries of the" EIP Trust. According to Respondents' petition, "[Respondents] desire for the Court to appoint themselves as the successor co-trustees of the Trust for the sole purpose of dissolving the Trust and distributing the [605 North Main property] to its designated beneficiaries." Id. p.2. Respondents ask the Court to deem the Trust to be the owner of the property, to immediately dissolve the Trust, and to disburse the property (i.e., proceeds from its sale) to themselves and Appellant. Id.

On April 2, 2015, Appellant filed an Answer to Respondents' petition and denied that the 605 North Main property is owned by the EIP Trust. See Answer filed 4.2.15. On May 4, 2015, Appellant filed an Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Cross-Claim seeking, *inter alia*, a

declaratory judgment declaring that Appellant is the rightful owner of the property. See Amended Answer filed 5.4.15.

On October 12, 2015, before a trial or evidentiary hearing was conducted or any action was taken on Respondents' Petition to Appoint a Successor Trustee or involving Appellant's Counterclaims or Cross-Claim, Respondents then filed a separate "Motion for Appointment of Special Fiduciary as Interim Trustee" under S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704(e). See Motion filed 10.12.15. Section 62-7-704(e) of Probate Code states that "[w]hether or not a vacancy in a trusteeship exists or is required to be filled, the court may appoint an additional trustee or special fiduciary whenever the court considers the appointment necessary for the administration of the trust." Id. § 62-7-704(e). On December 9, 2015, Respondents also moved for an expedited hearing on their Motion for Appointment of Special Fiduciary as Interim Trustee. See Motion filed 12.9.15.

Respondents' Motion for Appointment of Special Fiduciary as Interim Trustee and their Motion for Expedited Hearing requested that a special fiduciary be appointed with the authorization to immediately have "access to all records concerning the assets of the Trust," "authority over Trust assets," and payment of "reasonable compensation." See Motion filed 10.12.15 p. 3. Their motions also asked the Probate Court to alter the *status quo* by authorizing the special fiduciary to have immediate possession, control, and authority over the 605 North Main property, including "management" of the property, "collection of rents and other income generated by" the property, and potentially selling the property. See Motion filed 12.9.15 p. 2. The motions effectively requested the Probate Court to order Appellant to vacate the property and to relinquish ownership and possession of the property to the special fiduciary. The motions also argued that it was imperative that the Probate Court appoint a special fiduciary because Mrs. Pittillo had previously executed a Promissory

Note and Mortgage using the 605 North Main property as collateral that was scheduled to become due on December 3, 2016. Respondents did not file any affidavit or evidence to support either of their motions. Instead, they simply relied on the statement in their motions that “[t]he possibility of the Mortgage being foreclosed for non-payment of the Note is a real threat to the Trust’s main asset, and immediate measures need to be taken to protect this asset, including the possible sale of the property.” Id.

On June 29, 2016, Appellant filed an opposition to the Motion for Appointment of Special Fiduciary. See Memo. Opp. Motion for Special Fiduciary filed 6.29.16. Appellant simultaneously filed sworn affidavits of Appellant and several witnesses, including Jim Wright, Lee Agnew, Sharon Burbage, and Kane Wright. See A. Henson Aff.; J. Wright Aff.; Burbage Aff.; Agnew Aff.; K. Wright Aff. In his opposition to Respondents’ motions, Appellant argued that the substance of the motions sought a mandatory injunction against Appellant, that Respondents failed to show that injunctive relief is necessary to preserve the *status quo*, and that the motions improperly sought to alter the *status quo* by appointing a special fiduciary and to require Appellant to immediately turn over and relinquish possession, use, control, and ownership of the 605 North Main property to the special fiduciary, even though the property’s ownership is in dispute. Appellant also argued that the Probate Court could not grant the relief requested by Respondents without requiring them to post a bond under S.C. R. CIV. PRO. 65(c), which Respondents had not shown they were capable of providing. Finally, as an alternative position, Appellant requested that the Probate Court appoint him as the special fiduciary should the Court determine that it is necessary and appropriate to appoint such a person under § 62-7-704(e).

On June 29, 2016, Associate Probate Judge Molly D. Edwards conducted a hearing on

Respondents' motions. See Hearing Transcript 6.29.16. No testimony was proffered at the hearing. On August 31, 2016, Judge Edwards issued an order appointing Ashley Andrews, Esquire "as the special fiduciary to serve as the Interim Trustee." See Order filed 8.31.16 p. 6. In delineating the special fiduciary's "duties and responsibilities," the order states that "it is important that the Court treads lightly in regards to the duties and responsibilities assigned to a special fiduciary in order to ensure that the *status quo* is maintained in this matter to the greatest extent possible." Id. p. 7. The order also finds that "[w]hile on the face of the Motion, [Respondents] did not request an injunction, it appears that some of their requested relief would have the consequence of altering the *status quo*" and that "[w]hile injunctive relief was not plead by [Respondents], that would be the effect." Id. However, Judge Edwards concluded that the outstanding mortgage taken out on the 605 North Main property by Mrs. Pittillo "poses a major risk to the ownership of this property," thus she ruled that the "appointment of a Special Fiduciary is necessary in order to preserve 605 N. Main Street for all parties and to negotiate an extension of the current loan or other appropriate action to pay the mortgage in her sole discretion." Id. p. 8. The order authorizes the special fiduciary "[i]n her sole discretion, [to] negotiate with the lender and/or parties to extend the due date on the current mortgage in order for litigation to be finalized or [to] have the mortgage paid off prior to the December 3, 2016 due date." Id. p. 10. By appointing Ms. Andrews as the special fiduciary, Judge Edwards necessarily denied Appellant's competing request that he be the person appointed to that position. The order also affirmatively requires that Appellant turn over certain records to the special fiduciary regarding the 605 North Main property. Id. pp. 8, 10. The order further states that the special fiduciary "shall be compensated at \$200/hour." Id. p. 9.

Appellant's counsel received written notice of the entry of the order via regular mail on

September 6, 2016. On September 16, 2016, Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Intent to Appeal to the Circuit Court in accordance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308. See Notice of Intent to Appeal filed 9.16.16. On October 21, 2016, Appellant timely served his Statement of Issues on Appeal in the Circuit Court pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308(b). See Statement of Issues on Appeal filed 10.24.16.

On October 26, 2016, Petitioners filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal arguing that the Probate Court's order grants "only temporary relief" and "is not a final order subject to appeal" until there is "a final hearing on the merits" and a resolution of Respondents' separate Petition to Appoint a Successor Trustee and Appellant's Counterclaims and Cross-Claim. See Motion to Dismiss Appeal filed 10.26.16 pp. 3-4. Respondent filed his opposition to the motion on November 21, 2016, and asserted that the Probate Court's order is appealable because it involves (a) a final order affecting a substantial right made in a special proceeding under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3) and/or (b) an order that grants, continues, or refuses an injunction under § 14-3-330(4). See Memo. Opp. Motion to Dismiss Appeal filed 11.21.16. Circuit Judge Edgar W. Dickson conducted a hearing on the Petitioners' motion on November 21, 2016. See Hearing Transcript 11.21.16.

On December 12, 2016, Judge Dickson entered an Order granting the Respondents' motion to dismiss Appellant's appeal. See Order filed 12.12.16. Appellant's counsel received written notice of entry of the Order on December 15, 2016. On January 12, 2017, Appellant timely served his Notice of Appeal to this Court. See Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENTS

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Questions of law are reviewed *de novo* and the appellate court will reverse the lower court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); see also Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Centers (Piedmont/Atlanta), LLC, 404 S.C. 385, 392, 745 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2013) (“Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*.”).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BY DISMISSING APPELLANT'S APPEAL OF THE PROBATE COURT'S ORDER APPOINTING A SPECIAL FIDUCIARY AS INTERIM TRUSTEE ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE ORDER IS NOT IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE.

Appeals from the Probate Court to the Circuit Court are governed by S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308. Section 62-1-308 provides that “[a] person interested in a final order, sentence, or decree of a probate court may appeal to the circuit court in the same county” Id. § 62-1-308(a). It further states that “[t]he circuit court . . . shall hear and determine the appeal according to the rules of law.” Id. § 62-1-308(i). “As used in this statute, the phrase ‘according to the rules of law’ means according to the rules governing appeals.” Univ. of S. California v. Moran, 365 S.C. 270, 274, 617 S.E.2d 135, 137 (Ct. App. 2005) (citation omitted); Matter of Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993).

“[T]he question of whether an order is immediately appealable is determined on a case-by-case basis.” Dorn v. Cohen, 418 S.C. 126, 138, 791 S.E.2d 313, 319 (Ct. App. 2016) (citation omitted). “The determination of whether a party may immediately appeal an order issued before or during trial is governed primarily by S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330.” Ex parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc., 369 S.C. 1, 6-7, 630 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2006); see also Edwards v. SunCom, 369 S.C. 91, 93, 631

S.E.2d 529, 530 (2006) (“Absent some specialized statute, the immediate appealability of an interlocutory or intermediate order depends on whether the order falls within S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330.”); Levi v. N. Anderson Cnty. EMS, 409 S.C. 374, 379-80, 762 S.E.2d 44, 47 (Ct. App. 2014); Tatnall v. Gardner, 350 S.C. 135, 137, 564 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 2002).

The types of orders that are appealable pursuant to § 14-3-330 include *inter alia*:

(3) **A final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding** or upon a summary application in any action after judgment; and

(4) **An interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction** or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver.

S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330 (emphasis added); see also Edwards, 369 S.C. at 93-94, 631 S.E.2d at 530. Although § 14-3-330(4) does not explicitly refer to “probate court” orders involving injunctions, our appellate courts have applied this provision to such orders. See, e.g., Ex parte McFarlin, 2007 WL 8326605, at *2 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 12, 2007).

Where a specialized statute exists, it controls over § 14-3-330. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 387 S.C. 265, 266, 692 S.E.2d 894 (2010); see also Ex parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc., 369 S.C. at 6, 630 S.E.2d at 467.

A. The Probate Court’s Order is Immediately Appealable as a Final Order Affecting a Substantial Right Made in a Special Proceeding under S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3).

The Probate Court’s order constitutes a final order affecting a substantial right made in a special proceeding within the meaning of § 14-3-330(3).

1. Distinction Between “Actions” and “Special Proceedings.”

Despite the fact that § 14-3-330(3) and its predecessor versions have been around for over a

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