THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson

Appellate Case No. 2017-000095
Lower Case No. 2016-CP-18-1849

In Re: Trust EIP Created Under the Last Will and Testament of Eunice I. Page Dated October 14, 1992,

Richard S. Henson and Vann Kenneth Henson Respondents,

v.

Albert T. Henson, Jr. and Julian Reid Henson, Respondents in the Court below,

Of Whom Albert T. Henson, Jr., is theAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Trudy H. Robertson
Paul M. Lynch
E. Brandon Gaskins
MOORE & VAN ALLEN PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 579-7000

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. A PROBATE COURT'S APPOINTMENT OF AN INTERIM TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704 IS NOT A FINAL ORDER SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPEAL UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308.

The right of appeal is governed by statutory law. *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 266, 692 S.E.2d 894 (2010). Although S.C.

Code Ann. § 14-3-330 generally governs the right to appeal, that statute does not apply when a specialized statute governing an appeal exists. *Id.*

In this case, Appellant's argument that the Order is immediately appealable fails because it is based on the incorrect assertion that S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(3) and (4) governs the appealability of the Order. Contrary to Appellant's claim, § 14-3-330 does not control Appellant's appeal because appeals from the probate court are governed by a specialized statute, specifically § 62-1-308. Section 62-1-308(a) provides, in pertinent part, that a "person interested in a final order, sentence, or decree of a probate court and considering himself injured by it may appeal to the circuit court in the same county." Because § 62-1-308 is a more specific statute than the general appeal statute of § 14-3-330, § 62-1-308, and not § 14-3-330, governs whether the Order is immediately appealable in this case. *See Long v. Sealed Air Corp.*, 391 S.C. 483, 486, 706 S.E.2d 34, 35 (Ct. App. 2011) (ruling that general appealability provisions of § 14-3-330 did not apply because more specific appeal provision of § 1-23-610 governed).

An order from the probate court that is not a final order is not reviewable under § 62-1-308. *Fulmer v. Cain*, 380 S.C. 466, 469, 670 S.E.2d 652, 654 (2008). Courts of common pleas lack subject matter jurisdiction over appeals of a temporary order issued by a probate court. *Boyce-Abel v. Work*, 305 S.C. 43, 44, 406 S.E.2d 184, 185 (Ct. App. 1991).

In this case, the Order provides only temporary relief pending a final hearing on the merits, and it is not a final order subject to appeal under § 62-1-308. The temporary nature of the relief provided in the Order is clear. The appointment of the interim trustee is *per se* temporary because it applies only in the interim period between the date of appointment and a final hearing on the merits. The Order expressly limits the interim trustee's powers to maintaining the status quo "pending a final hearing on the merits." (R. p. 8) (Order p. 8.) In addition, the Probate Court was

careful not to resolve the primary dispute between Appellant and Respondents because that “will need to be decided after a full merit’s hearing.” (R. p. 7) (*Id.* at p. 7.) The Order also did not dispossess Appellant of his current possession of the Subject Property and is instead a temporary measure intended to preserve the Subject Property from being transferred under mortgage. Therefore, the Order is not an appealable final order under § 62-1-308.

The South Carolina Court of Appeal’s decision in *Boyce-Abel* is controlling on the issue of whether the Order is appealable under § 62-1-308. In *Boyce-Abel*, the probate court appointed special administrators of a decedent’s estate until a personal representative could be formally appointed. *Id.*, 305 S.C. at 44, 406 S.E.2d at 185. The special administrators’ siblings appealed the appointment to the circuit court, and the circuit court disqualified one of the special administrators. *Id.* The Court of Appeals vacated the circuit court’s appellate decision and remanded the case to the probate court for further proceedings because the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the appeal of the probate order. *Id.* According to the Court of Appeals, the circuit court did not have jurisdiction under § 62-1-308 because the probate court’s appointment of the special administrators was not a final order. *Id.* Instead, the probate order was “clearly temporary” pending the formal appointment of a personal representative and only provided the special administrators with limited powers to administer the estate in an interim period. *Id.*

There is no material difference between the appointment of the special fiduciary as interim trustee in this case and the appointment of the special administrators in *Boyce-Abel* for the purpose of determining whether the Order is a final order subject to appeal under § 62-1-308. Just as the appointment of the special administrators in *Boyce-Abel* was temporary, the appointment of the interim trustee in this case is similarly temporary. And like the special administrators appointed

in *Boyce-Abel*, the interim trustee in this case is authorized only to perform certain acts to maintain the status quo until final resolution. Furthermore, the procedure used for the appointment of the special administrators in *Boyce-Abel* is the same procedure used in this case for the appointment of the interim trustee. Section § 62-7-704(e) provides that the “procedure for such appointment . . . shall be the same as set forth for special administrators” under § 62-3-614 of the probate code. As such, the appeal in *Boyce-Abel* arose from the same statutory procedure as the appeal arises in this case, and *Boyce-Abel* directly controls the determination of the issue presented in this case.

Although Appellant acknowledges that § 62-1-308 governs this appeal, he summarily dismisses the clear applicability of *Boyce-Abel* to this case by arguing that this Court did not address in *Boyce-Abel* whether an appointment of a special administrator is a special proceeding under § 14-3-330(3) or the issuance of an injunction under § 14-3-330(4). Appellant’s attempt to distinguish *Boyce-Abel* from this case is unconvincing.

Appellant argues that *Boyce-Abel* is not controlling in this case because the Court of Appeals failed to address the argument he presents in this case. According to Appellant, the Court of Appeals, like “well-behaved children,” should only answer questions when it is asked. (App. Initial Br. p. 26.) Appellants’ dismissive view of this Court’s authority, however, disregards that the Court may address *sua sponte* issues relating to subject matter jurisdiction over an appeal and is not limited to answering only questions presented by the parties. *See Town of Hilton Head Island v. Godwin*, 370 S.C. 221, 223, 370 S.C. 221, 634 S.E.2d 59, 60-61 (stating that lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised *sua sponte* by the court and that the appellate court must always take notice of the lack of subject matter jurisdiction). The Court of Appeals in *Boyce-Abel* could have addressed the argument presented by Appellant in this case, but it had no need to do so because the appeal in that case was governed by § 62-1-308 rather than § 14-3-330. Therefore,

the Court's opinion in *Boyce-Abel* controls the issue in this appeal regardless of whether the parties in *Boyce-Abel* actually presented the exact argument advanced by Appellant, and the Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the appeal.

II. A PROBATE COURT'S APPOINTMENT OF AN INTERIM TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704 IS NOT SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPEAL UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(3) BECAUSE IT NEITHER ARISES FROM A SPECIAL PROCEEDING NOR AFFECTS A SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT.

Although Appellant acknowledges that § 62-1-308 governs the appeal in this case, he devotes the overwhelming majority of his argument attempting to persuade the Court that the motion for appointment of an interim trustee under § 62-7-704(e) is a "special proceeding" which is subject to immediate appeal under § 14-3-330(3). In so doing, Appellant relies on inapplicable case law from other jurisdictions which cannot override the Court's decision in *Boyce-Abel*. The Court should reject Appellant's attempt to overcomplicate the simple issue that has been presented.

Assuming *arguendo* that § 14-3-330 applies rather than § 62-1-308, Appellant nevertheless fails to establish that the appointment of an interim trustee under the South Carolina Trust Code is a special proceeding. Because Appellant cannot rely on any authority from South Carolina to support his argument, he relies solely on decisions from other jurisdictions involving the probate of wills and decedents' estates in which certain decisions were deemed final orders in special proceedings. Notably absent from Appellants' litany of cases supporting his "special proceeding" argument, however, is a single case arising from an action seeking the appointment of a trustee to a vacant trusteeship, either on a permanent or temporary basis. Thus, the cases on which Appellant relies cannot support the conclusion that a motion seeking the appointment of an interim trustee is a "special proceeding" under § 14-3-330(3).

Appellants' reliance on special proceedings involving the probate of wills and decedents' estates arises from an apparent misunderstanding between the nature of actions under the South

Carolina Trust Code and the administration of decedents' estates under Article 3 of the South Carolina Probate Code. For example, Appellant argues that the fact that South Carolina has adopted Section 3-107 of the Uniform Probate Code (codified as S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-107) is "vitally important to the resolution of the instant appeal," but fails to recognize that Article 3 of the Probate Code does not govern actions arising under the Trust Code. Rather, the Trust Code is established under Article 7 of the Probate Code, which expressly states that the Trust Code does not apply to decedent's estates and is thus separate and independent from Article 3. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-102 ("This article does not apply to . . . administration of decedent's estates . . ."). Moreover, judicial proceedings under the Trust Code are governed by § 62-7-201 – not § 62-3-107, and nothing in § 62-7-201 indicates that each separate motion or request for relief arising in an action involving the Trust Code is an independent special proceeding under § 14-3-330(3). As a result, Appellant's argument that § 62-3-107 renders a motion to appoint an interim trustee a "special proceeding" is misguided and incorrect.

Even if a motion to appoint an interim trustee under § 62-7-704(e) is a "special proceeding" under § 14-3-330(3), Appellant cannot establish that the Order was a "final order affecting a substantial right" under that provision. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated, the "provisions of Section 14-3-330 . . . have been narrowly construed" to avoid "[p]iecemeal appeals." *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 196, 607 S.E.2d 707 (2005). Although the term "substantial right" is not defined in § 14-3-330(3), that term is defined in § 14-3-330(2) to mean when an order "(a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof of any pleading in any action." The South Carolina Supreme Court has further clarified that "[o]rders affecting a substantial right discontinue an action, prevent an appeal,

grant or refuse a new trial, or strike out an action or defense.” *Edwards v. SunCom*, 369 S.C. 91, 94, 631 S.E.2d 529, 530 (2006) (internal quotations omitted).

Here, the circuit court expressly found that, under the Order, the Appellant “has not lost or had affected any ‘substantial right’ as that term has been defined by South Carolina law.” (R. p. 18) (Order Dismissing Appeal p. 5.) In arguing that the Order did affect a “substantial right,” Appellant ignores how “substantial right” has been defined under § 14-3-330 by the circuit court and other South Carolina courts. He instead advances a broader definition that is unsupported by South Carolina judicial precedent. Appellant asserts that the Order affects certain rights because (1) the interim trustee can extend or modify the preexisting loan to ensure that the Subject Property is not foreclosed upon before a hearing date, (2) he is required to turn over records to the interim trustee, and (3) the interim trustee will receive compensation. None of these temporary remedies affects substantial rights that would discontinue the action, prevent an appeal, grant or refuse a new trial, or strike out an action or defense. Rather, the Order merely ensures that the subject of this litigation is temporarily preserved so that the case can proceed to a trial on the merits without prejudicing any of the parties. As a result, the Order does not affect substantial rights which would warrant an immediate appeal. *See Terry v. Terry*, 400 S.C. 453, 457, 734 S.E.2d 646, 648 (2012) (holding that temporary order of family court granting temporary possession of marital residence, while clearly important to the parties, neither constituted a “substantial right” or raised issues warranting immediate appellate court intervention).

III. THE PROBATE COURT’S APPOINTMENT OF AN INTERIM TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-7-704 IS NOT SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE APPEAL UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330(4) BECAUSE IT DID NOT ISSUE AN INJUNCTION.

Appellant’s final argument mistakenly claims that the Order is immediately appealable as an order issuing an injunction under § 14-3-330(4) because the Order’s practical effect is to restrain

him from exercising complete and full ownership over his property. This argument misconstrues the nature of an injunction. Rather than requiring or prohibiting any actions of the parties, the Order merely authorizes the interim trustee, “[i]n her sole discretion, negotiate with the lender and/or parties to extend the due date on the current mortgage,” take steps to determine if other assets of the Trust exist, and recover records relating to the Trust and the Subject Property. Because the Order does not require the parties to take any action or prohibit the parties from taking any action, the circuit court correctly ruled that the Order is not an injunction subject to immediate appeal.

Injunctions or injunctive relief typically are characterized as mandatory injunctions or prohibitory injunctions. “A prohibitory injunction prohibits a party from taking action and preserves the status quo pending a determination on the merits of the action. A mandatory injunction orders a responsible party to take action.” *Marlyn Nutraceuticals, Inc. v. Mucos Pharma GmbH & Co.*, 571 F.3d 873, 878-79 (9th Cir. 2009); *see also Gore v. Skipper*, 255 S.C. 18, 21, 176 S.E.2d 569 (1970) (contrasting mandatory injunction against prohibitory injunction); *Sanford v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm’n*, 385 S.C. 483, 496, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 fn. 6 (2009) (“A prohibitory injunction is defined as an injunction that forbids or restrains an act.”).

In this case, Appellant fails to articulate how the Order appointing an interim trustee for limited purposes constitutes either a prohibitory or mandatory injunction. The Order does not restrain any party from taking action; nor does it require any party to take any action. Instead, as the circuit court properly recognized, the Order merely authorized the interim trustee to negotiate an extension or modification of the loan and mortgage and seek information relating to the Subject Property and the Trust. The Probate Court purposefully avoided granting any relief which would have restrained Appellant’s control and possession over the Subject Property. The Probate Court

further stated it was intentionally limiting the requested relief of Respondents to avoid issuing an injunction and would not dispossess Appellant of the property. (R. pp. 7-8 ¶¶ 33-40) (Order ¶¶ 33-40.) Therefore, Appellant's argument that the Order effectively serves as an injunction which is subject to immediate appeal is incorrect and should be rejected.

IV. APPELLANT'S APPEAL IS MOOT BECAUSE THE INTERIM TRUSTEE FULFILLED HER DUTIES UNDER THE ORDER OF APPOINTMENT AND THE RESOLUTION OF THIS APPEAL WILL HAVE NO PRACTICAL EFFECT ON THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

“An appellate court will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 567, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001). “A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for the reviewing court to grant effectual relief.” *Id.*